
Please ask for Democratic Services Telephone (01362) 656225
email: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

Date & Time - MONDAY 25 JANUARY 2021 AT 10.00AM

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings

THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND CRIME PANELS 
(CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) 
(ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2020

Committee Members:

Breckland Council Norfolk County Council

Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr C. Harvey

Mr P.J. Duigan (Vice-Chairman)
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr W. Richmond

Co-optees Ex-Officio

Mr D. Blackburn
Mr Bill Rhodes
Dr K Robinson

Mr J Ward
R Kybird

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Thursday 14 January 2021

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings


2

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 4 - 10
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2020.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT 11 - 19
To receive a report from Oliver Bone, Curator of ancient House Museum.

7. GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT 20 - 30
To receive a report from Andrew Smith, Operations Manager – West.

8. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meetings, please note all meetings 
will be held on a Monday at 10am and will be held virtually until further 
notice.

Suggested dates:

17 May 21
19 July 21 - AGM
22 November 21



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 12 October 2020 at 10.00 am pursuant to the Local Authorities and
Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and

Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020  

PRESENT
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman)
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr C. Harvey

Mr P.J. Duigan (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris

Also Present
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr K. Robinson

In Attendance
Mr Oliver Bone
Dr Robin Hanley
Mr Andrew Smith

Ruth Tudge

Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums
Assistant Head of Museums
Operations Manager – West (&East), Norfolk
Museums Service
Democratic Services Officer

Action By

11/20CHAIRMAN 

RESOLVED that Councillor Kybird be appointed as Chairman for the 
ensuing year.

12/20VICE-CHAIRMAN 

RESOLVED that Councillor Duigan be appointed as Vice-Chairman 
for the ensuing year.

13/20MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2020 were confirmed 
as an accurate record subject to an amendment to confirm that 
Councillor Chris Harvey did attend the meeting but was not shown in 
the attendance.

14/20APOLOGIES 

Apologies had been received from Councillors Bowes, Brame, 
Richmond, and Mr Ward and David Blackburn.

Public Document Pack

3

Agenda Item 1



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

2

Action By

15/20CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

None.

16/20URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

17/20DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

18/20ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT 

Dr Robin Hanley, Assistant Head of Museums for Norfolk Museums 
Service (NMS), explained that all NMS museums closed to visitors on 
19 March 2020 as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic with the 
majority of staff working remotely since this time. Most normal 
activities and services, including general visits and school visits, had 
been severely impacted. Many NMS staff had been involved in key 
duties relating to the Norfolk County Council’s COVID-19 emergency 
work including helping to coordinate volunteer activities and managing 
the distribution of food and medicine to residents who needed 
support.

During the lockdown period NMS staff had developed a broad range 
of digital resources to support audiences remotely which had included 
a significant expansion of social media activity. Resources had also 
been developed for those in digital poverty or without ready access to 
digital content.

From the 4 July Government announced that museums could legally 
reopen with suitable COVID-19 security measures in place and three 
NMS sites, which included Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse, reopened 
to the general public on 3 August. All visits had to be pre-booked 
using timed tickets available from the Art Tickets website and to 
accommodate social distancing, site visitor capacity had been 
reduced to approximately 30%.

The layout of Ancient House, with a succession of smaller rooms over 
two floors, made the re-opening of this site to the general public 
during the COVID-19 pandemic more difficult, due to the requirements 
for social distancing. Planning was currently taking place for the 
limited resumption of carefully controlled on-site activities for schools 
and young people when it was safe to do so. The NMS had remained 
ever vigilant in terms of the changing guidance and had continued to 
be flexible in terms of responding to any new government 
requirements introduced over time, such as the wearing of face 
coverings.

Councillor Clarke thanked Dr Hanley, and the NMS staff for all of the 
hard work that had gone on behind the scenes to make it possible to 
re-open museums in line with current Government guidelines and in 
doing so had reassured the public and visitors that Norfolk Museums 

4



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

3

Action By

would be a safe and secure environment in which to visit.

The Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums, Oliver Bone, 
presented the Ancient House Museum report to Members that 
covered the period from December 2019 to August 2020.

Ancient House remained closed and they were looking at how it can 
be opened safely for school groups and young people’s groups with 
still some work to be done and hope that over the winter period would 
have some resumption to work towards reopening safely in line with 
Government guidelines.

It was hoped that the Studio Ceramics exhibition, (the last exhibition 
at the museum prior to lockdown) would be replaced with the Thetford 
Treasure exhibition which would be a loan from the British Museum of 
a selection from the late Roman hoard of inscribed and decorated 
silver spoons and gold jewellery items. A request had been put into 
the British Museum and a response awaited.  Ancient House 
benefited from high security display cases in the changing exhibition 
room which facilitated these types of significant loans from national 
collections. 

Two exhibition projects commissioned through the Brecks River and 
Fen Edge landscape project had been planned for the future. This 
was a National Lottery funded 5 years scheme and Ancient House 
were creating exhibitions around Vikings and riverside heritage, two 
separate strands with associated activities. 

Ancient House would like to host permanent displays on the Duleep 
Singh story. There was a unique aspect of the museum foundation 
that connected with the Royal family of the Punjab with Prince 
Frederick Duleep Singh the son of the Maharajah. This would 
compliment the proposed new display at Thetford Guildhall where 
there were plans for a Duleep Singh room with a display of paintings. 
The Museums Service were looking forward to working with Thetford 
Town Council on this project. 

Focus for all staff had been on increasing the digital presence of the 
museum and it had been used to provide visuals and stories and a 
mechanism to share information. Staff had developed the Ancient 
House You Tube channel which had included 59 short films. Other 
activities included watch along events and online talks that had 
reached an international audience. They had worked with Dr David 
Waterhouse on the How to Dig up a Tyrannosaurus which was a 
popular family activity. Information on the increase in numbers on 
Twitter and Facebook would be circulated to members after the 
meeting.

Although the Museum’s textile groups had to be put on hold the 
Museum staff had been making fortnightly phone calls to members to 
stay connected. The Friends of the Museum continued to support 
wherever possible and the Friends committee had agreed to extend 
membership into 2021.

5



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

4

Action By

The Museum had an excellent new trainee in Sami Yussuf who had 
been contributing to the increase museum’s digital information with 
creating short films and providing much needed technical support.

Oliver thanked the Woodmansterne Art Conservation Awards scheme 
which had funded the conservation of the Cornell Fison civic portrait. 
This had been conserved and connected to the water fountain in the 
marketplace which was a donation from the Fison family.

Ancient House had succeeded in raising funds for the purchase of the 
David Osborne postcard collection of over 1000 postcards showing 
Thetford views from the 1870s to the present day. Oliver presented a 
small selection of some of the postcards and wanted to thank the Arts 
Council England/V and A purchase grant funds, and Breckland 
Council through the match funding programme, The Friends of 
Thetford Museum, the Lady Hind Trust and Thetford Town Council for 
their support on this project. 

The Chair asked Oliver to provide contact details of all of the sponsors 
in order that a letter of thanks could be sent on behalf of the 
committee to thank them for their contributions to acquire this 
important collection.

19/20GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT 

The Operations Manager for East and West, Andrew Smith presented 
the report to Members that covered the period from December 2019 
to September 2020.

Andrew confirmed that Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse closed on 
19 March but was very pleased to be able to put the work in place and 
all the required measurements to reopen on 20 July for a couple of 
weeks to museum pass holders and friends before reopening to the 
public on 3 August 20. To accommodate visitors in a safe and Covid 
secure way numbers were limited to a maximum capacity of 285 
people per day with 135 visitors at any one time. During the school 
holidays approximately 120 visited per day but since the school 
autumn term started in September the number averaged at 40 to 50 
per day with more at weekends.

A themed event during the February half term, The Hunt for Old 
Tom’s Treasure ran from Monday 17 to Friday 19 February, with an 
average of 216 people per day. Andrew said it had been very sad to 
cancel the events programme which included many special event 
days such as A Vintage Affair, Forties Village at War and Apple Day 
and the very popular Horse Power day due to the ongoing pandemic.

Since the reopening of the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse on 
Monday 20 July a reintroduction of small-scale event activities has 
been instigated. There had been a pencil free children’s activity sheet 
available to all visitors daily and plans were underway for October to 
include updated activity packs for children and a hands-free obstacle 
course, and a virtual Christmas event at the workhouse in December.

6



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

5

Action By

The costs of delivery and marketing the Gressenhall event 
programme continued to be subsidised with funding from Arts Council 
England (ACE) as part of the 2018-22 Norfolk Museums Service ACE 
business plan as a National Portfolio Organisation.

Andrew was pleased to confirm that the temporary exhibition Full 
Steam Ahead did open in February half term which, in the future, 
would include the Farmers Foundry Company engine which was 
currently undergoing restoration and hoped to be return in Spring 
2021. 

Planning had started for a 2021 temporary exhibition entitled More in 
Commons and NMS would be working in partnership with Norfolk 
Wildlife Trust, who were celebrating their 95th birthday. The exhibition 
would be a celebration of the wildlife, history and community of 
Norfolk’s common land.

Staff had also created several online versions of previous temporary 
exhibitions during the lockdown period which allowed online visitors to 
explore objects and images at their own pace.

Gressenhall continued to lead on the More Than Oliver Twist project 
which had been granted a 4-month extension and had been made into 
a completely digital exhibition which would be ready to publish in mid-
October and hosted on the Google Arts and Culture platform.

Lockdown had given the opportunity to recruit further family history 
research volunteers and research had been completed on all the 
inmates recorded in the 1881 census. Volunteers had now started 
researching those in the 1871 census.

A Collecting COVID-19 project was started in response to the national 
lockdown using a phased approach. The initial phase of collating 
information was during lockdown and would be followed up in Autumn 
by a new Living with the Pandemic phase.

Andrew gave a short presentation with photographs of the new 
Adventure playground at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, which, 
funded through the Norfolk County Council capital programme, was 
almost ready to open to visitors. The new play equipment had been 
fully installed, and final elements of landscaping were being 
completed by the Gressenhall team. A detailed COVID-19 risk 
assessment and related safe system of work had been written for the 
playground area and it was hoped to finally open the play area and 
new equipment in time for October half term. The new look adventure 
playground would play a key role in attracting families, repeat visitors 
and NMS Museums Pass holders to the site. The new adventure 
playground complimented the wider site’s existing interpretation 
including such elements as the wildlife, woodland, heavy horses and 
farm animals and blended into the surrounding landscape very well 
whilst providing a key offer for the family audience.

Andrew explained it had been a challenging time for the team across 
the whole site but particularly the farm as key priorities had to be 

7



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

6

Action By

covered particularly the care and feeding of the livestock. There had 
been weekly farm diaries from March to September which were 
published in the local press and online. The Chairman suggested 
webcams might be a good way to watch the animals over the winter 
period.

Digital work had become more important during the last few months 
and Gressenhall had worked hard to publish content on Facebook 
and Twitter. This included a number of projects with video content 
including a popular Workhouse Murder Mystery and a series of craft 
activities which were inspired by the popular Art attack activities 
usually provided on site. Moaning Martha, a fictional inmate character 
had also been very popular.

The site closure period also saw the development of a new private 
Facebook group for Gressenhall staff and volunteers. It provided a 
link to the museum for staff and volunteers who were not able to 
attend or work on site. Regular updates were provided by staff 
completing security checks and other essential work on site during 
lockdown. This included photographs of the farm animals being fed 
and the buildings, gardens and wildlife. The Chairman asked if 
Committee Members would be able to join as it would be useful to 
have the background of what was happening at Gressenhall on a 
daily or weekly basis. Andrew would look into this for Members.

The Friends of Gressenhall remain supportive but it had not been 
possible to hold the bi-monthly Committee Meetings at the museum 
and the second-hand bookshop remained closed so the Friends had 
been unable to generate any new income from the bookshop in the 
current financial year but it was hoped to be up and running again as 
soon as possible.

The Gressenhall Curator, Dr Megan Dennis, continued to co-ordinate, 
manage and develop the volunteer teams at Gressenhall. A significant 
amount of time and energy had been spent staying in touch with the 
group since the national lockdown began in March. Daily emails were 
sent to the volunteer group and were still generated on weekdays. It 
provided a regular link to Gressenhall and was appreciated by many 
of the volunteers, particularly those living alone, or who were 
shielding.  A range of remote volunteering opportunities had seen the 
volunteer team increase from 120 to over 150 volunteers, including 
recruiting people from across the UK for the first time which had 
increased diversity of the volunteer group. These volunteers had 
worked on family history research, cataloguing workhouse archives 
and improving collection records. The new project had remote 
volunteers working together to create a 3D sculpture for the 2021 
temporary exhibition More in Commons. Following a detailed review 
with senior managers and volunteers, approval had been given for the 
resumption of limited outdoor gardening on the top site at 
Gressenhall. A small number of gardening volunteers were now able 
to attend the site in a COVID-19 secure and safe way to carry out 
essential outdoor works to maintain the garden areas.

8



Breckland Area Museums Committee
12 October 2020

7

Action By

Dr Robin Hanley updated members on the Kick the Dust Project 
which had been ongoing with since 2018. It was a project funded 
primarily through the National Lottery Heritage Fund for young people 
aged 11 to 25 with activity around supporting vulnerable young people 
who did not normally access the Heritage. The budget was just under 
£1 million which included an original grant from the Heritage Fund and 
an additional grant administered by the Heritage Fund known as the 
Youth Accelerator Fund. The project was required to align to a more 
digital way of working during lockdown and had involved around 400 
young people taking part from March to August.

The Kick the Dust team established a working group with partners to 
work on a project that was designed to reflect the fact that not all 
young people had ready access to on line and digital resources with a 
number of young people in digital poverty. It was identified as a 
priority to provide a non-digital way for young people to engage with 
the project during lockdown. An ‘Art Parcel’ initiative was designed to 
work with stakeholders to identify vulnerable young people and 
arrange the distribution of 1,000 packs of arts resources that enabled 
those young people to engage with the project without being reliant on 
digital connectivity. 

20/20NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Monday 25 
January 2021 at 10.00am were noted.

The meeting closed at 11.40 am

CHAIRMAN

9



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
25 January 2021  Item No. 

 
ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT 

 
Report by the Curator, Ancient House Museum 

 
      

 
 
 
 
 
1 Temporary Closure of Ancient House due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
1.1 All Norfolk Museums Service (NMS) museums closed to visitors on 19 

March 2020 as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of NMS 
staff have been working remotely from home since this time. Following a 
phased COVID-secure reopening of the NMS museum sites at Norwich 
Castle, Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse and Time & Tide during July and 
August and at Lynn Museum during October, all NMS sites closed again 
from 5 November as part of the second national lockdown. Following the 
announcement that Norfolk would be in Tier 2, three NMS sites reopened 
to the public on Thursday 3 December. These sites were Norwich Castle, 
Time & Tide Museum and Lynn Museum. The seasonal site at Gressenhall 
remains closed until the start of the 2021 season. Following the 
announcement that Norfolk would be in Tier 4 from Boxing Day, all NMS 
sites closed again with effect from 24 December. Museums are legally 
required to close to visitors in both Tier 3 and Tier 4. 
 

1.2 Many normal activities and services, including general visits and school 
visits, have been severely impacted due to COVID-19. Many NMS staff 
have been involved in key duties relating to the Norfolk County Council’s 
(NCC) COVID-19 emergency work, including helping to coordinate 
volunteer activities, managing the distribution of food and medicine to 
residents who needed this support, and making telephone calls to 
identified vulnerable residents.  

 
1.3 During the lockdown period NMS staff have developed a broad range of 

digital resources to support audiences, including resources for children 
and families. Digital engagement activity included a significant expansion 

This report provides information on activities at 
Ancient House, Museum of Thetford Life from 
September 2020 – December 2020 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Oliver Bone on 01842 752599 and we will do 
our best to help 

10

Agenda Item 6



of social media activity. Resources were also developed for those in digital 
poverty or without ready access to digital content.  

 
1.4 The enormous range of NMS activity during lockdown is being captured in 

the weekly Museums Mardle staff e-newsletter. Members of the committee 
can be added to this distribution list on request.   

 
1.5 Following the Government announcement that museums could legally 

reopen from 4 July with suitable COVID-19 security measures in place, 
three NMS sites – Norwich Castle, Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse and 
Time & Tide Museum successfully reopened to visitors in the summer and 
Lynn Museum, King’s Lynn opened in October. This followed the 
implementation of strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were reviewed 
and signed-off by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing team. 
Reopening was also in accordance with sector-specific guidance issued by 
the National Museums Directors Council. Time & Tide and Gressenhall 
reopened to Museums Pass holders and Friends on 18 and 20 July 
respectively, prior to opening to the general public on 3 August. All visits 
had to be pre-booked using timed tickets available from the Art Tickets 
website. To accommodate social distancing, site visitor capacity were 
significantly reduced.  

 
1.6 Staff training has taken place at all sites in advance of reopening. Staff are 

provided with any identified PPE and protective screens have been 
installed at key points. Enhanced staffing levels ensure that visitors can be 
provided with the necessary support and advice.   

 
1.7 The layout of Ancient House, with a succession of smaller rooms over two 

floors, makes the re-opening of the museum to the general public during 
the COVID-19 pandemic more difficult due to the requirements for social 
distancing. The Ancient House has remained closed since March 2020. 

 
1.8  Planning took place over the autumn of 2020 for the limited resumption of 

carefully controlled COVID-secure on-site activities for schools and young 
people, in liaison with the NCC Health, Safety & Wellbeing team. The first 
school groups had been expected in December 2020, but these visits had 
to be cancelled due to the effects of building works next door at the former 
King’s Head pub (see below). 
 

 
2 Building Works at former King’s Head pub, next door to the Ancient 

House 
 
The owner of the King’s Head, a listed building next door to the Ancient 
House started building works in November to prepare the property for 
conversion to residential use. Museum staff undertaking regular site 
maintenance checks raised concerns on 19 November about the effects 
on the Ancient House of this work.  The museum team was in contact with 
the owner to express concerns and contact was also made with Breckland 
District Council.  Following public safety concerns about these building 

11



works, White Hart Street was closed and scaffolding erected to support the 
King’s Head structure (see below photographs supplied by the Chair of the 
Area Museums Committee).   
 
The impact of these building works caused disruption to the museum’s 
plans to provide a safe return of school groups and the Teenage History 
Club in December and has taken up a significant amount of staff time. The 
museum will require a careful conservation clean, involving the hire of a 
scaffold tower and the employment of specialist technicians. 
 
For information, the Ancient House was given to the Borough of Thetford 
in 1921 as a charity (‘Public Museum’). The trustee of the charity is 
Breckland Council.  The museum is maintained and operated as part of 
the Norfolk Museums Service through the Norfolk Joint Museums 
Agreement between districts and county. 
 
  

 
Ancient House exterior and scaffolding at the neighbouring King’s Head 
 

 
3 Exhibitions and associated events 
 
3.1 Studio Ceramics, from 21 September 2019 
The last exhibition at the museum prior to lockdown featured a selection of 
studio pottery from the NMS decorative art collections curated by Senior 
Curator Dr Francesca Vanke. Before Ancient House re-opens to the public, 
museum staff plan to deinstall, pack up and remove this display and replace it 
with a new exhibition. The Studio Ceramics display was enjoyed by visitors 
during its run from September 2019 to March 2020.  
 
3.2 Thetford Treasure 
The Ancient House staff are liaising with colleagues at the British Museum 
about the loan of a selection of items from the Thetford Treasure for display at 
Ancient House.  Originally planned for 2020, staff are now hoping to put on 

12



the exhibition in 2021 to provide added interest for the reopening of the 
museum.  There will be a selection of items from the late Roman hoard of 
inscribed and decorated silver spoons and gold jewellery, including the well-
known gold belt buckle decorated with the figure of a dancing satyr, a Roman 
mythical creature. Staff at Ancient House are liaising with the loans 
coordinator at the British Museum to confirm the exact dates of the exhibition, 
which is currently planned to run from 27 March – 4 December 2021.  The 
Ancient House benefits from high security display cases in the changing 
displays room, which facilitates loans from national collections.  
 

 
The Triton and Panther spoons from the Roman Thetford Treasure  
for display at Ancient House in 2021 
 
3.3 Brecks River and Fen Edge landscape project.   
The Ancient House is part the Brecks River and Fen Edge (BFER) landscape 
project. The Scheme was awarded a £2m National Lottery grant as part of the 
proposal for a £3.5m landscape conservation project to build on success of 
the Breaking New Ground Landscape Partnership Scheme. This project has 
commenced, albeit delayed by COVID-19.  The project is engaging local 
communities, schools and like-minded organisations to understand, reveal, 
celebrate and protect the lost heritage of the Brecks’ Fen Edge & Rivers over 
the next five years.  Rated as one of Britain’s top three landscapes for 
freshwater wildlife, the Brecks are home to nature as significant as that in the 
New Forest and the Broads. Across the scheme area lie biodiverse chalk 
streams and networks of ancient Pingo ponds. Although the area is famed for 
being sandy and dry, it is the watery landscapes that are the driving force 
behind the area’s unique biodiversity, and its history of human settlement. The 
Ancient House Museum will receive funding as a partner organisation to 
produce exhibitions and activities in 2022 and 2023 on the themes of Vikings 
and Riverside Heritage.   
 
The Vikings exhibition will be part of the River Raiders strand.  Museum staff 
are working with the team at BFER and Dr Richard Hoggett to curate the 
exhibition.  The project will involve members of the Teenage History Group in 
choosing artefacts and themes for display as ‘community curators’. Dr Hoggett 

13



has given two seminars on the river raiders in the Brecks and these can be 
seen on YouTube here: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?reload=9&v=0ui7DzhwTYE 
 

 
Screen shot of the recorded Zoom talk by Richard Hoggett linking to the forthcoming  
Vikings Exhibition at Ancient House 
 
3.4 Duleep Singh Gallery Feasibility  
Feasibility work continues for creating new displays at Ancient House to make 
more of the unusual connections between the Museum and the Maharajah 
Duleep Singh and his family, especially his son Prince Frederick Duleep 
Singh.  There is currently a target date of 2024 for this work, which links to the 
100th anniversary of the opening of the museum. New displays at Ancient 
House will complement the plans for interpretation at Thetford Guildhall with 
Thetford Town Council.  
 
 
4 Learning for Adults, Children and Young People 
Since the start of the national COVID-19 lockdown in March 2020 all face-to-
face activities delivered at the Ancient House ceased and focus shifted to 
digital delivery.  Since mid-March staff have focussed on digital delivery. 
 
Schools have been interested in connecting with the museum through virtual 
visits. Examples of this delivery have included a Zoom event with a Saxon 
Archer and Viking Farmer and a virtual visit to Forest Academy looking at 
archaeological finds and Victorian rubbish dumps. 
 
 
5 Digital events and activities 
 
5.1 Social media  
The museum staff has continued to use the Ancient House social media 
presence for maintaining communication with audiences during 2020. Twitter 
and Facebook accounts are maintained by all members of the museum team. 
The Museum’s social media feeds use a variety of ways to share content 

14

https://www.youtube.com/watch?reload=9&v=0ui7DzhwTYE


about the museum’s collections, activities and local stories. Particular themes 
over the recent period have included: Remembrance Day, Halloween, 
Christmas, Black History Month, International Volunteers Day, and 
#ThanksToYou in support of the National Lottery Heritage Fund. 
The Ancient House Museum accounts continue to grow, with the Twitter 
account having 3,313 followers with Facebook having 1,309 follows. 
 

 
Screenshot of the museum’s Twitter page 
 
The Museum’s Twitter page may be seen here: 
https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus 
The Museum’s Facebook page may be seen here 
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/ 
 
The Museum seeks to develop engagement rates and interaction with its 
social media feeds.  It is hard to predict how posts will be received – a 
particularly popular post in recent months was a Facebook post of Jeyes 
Toilet tissue and the story of Jeyes in Thetford. 
 

 
Photograph of Jeyes Toilet tissue posted with an article  
in the museum’s 100 objects series on Facebook and Twitter 

15

https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/


5.2 Creation of films about local history and museum activity 
Staff have developed the Ancient House YouTube channel to include  
60 short films, many of which have been created during 2020. These have 
included instructions for making spoons for inclusion in the forthcoming 
Thetford Treasure display, Second World War (including VE day and VJ day 
pieces), Duleep Singh, Queer History, Teenage History Club, and the 
#MuseumMomentofZen series 
The link lists the Museum’s films on YouTube:  
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-
swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1 
 
5.3 Watchalongs and discussion 
A communal ‘watchalong’ event For Sama was staged with a Q and A session 
in September, in association with City of Sanctuary and Aid Matters.   
Ancient House will participate in the Paddington 2 ‘watchalong’ led by Lynn 
Museum and Stories of Lynn on 17 January 2021. 
 
5.4 Online talks 
The Museum has provided a number of live online talks using the Zoom 
webinar function. Dr Priya Atwal spoke on Royals and Rebels: The Rise and 
Fall of the Sikh Empire on 16 September. NMS Learning officer Melissa 
Hawker gave talks on A Glimpse of Thetford’s Black History, Votes for 
Women, and Did the Victorians invent Christmas?  
Forthcoming digital events can be seen on our Facebook page: 
Ancient House Museum | Facebook 
 
5.5 Teenage History Club 
Learning Officer Melissa Hawker has continued to lead the Teenage History 
Club from a distance, with weekly Zoom get togethers taking place throughout 
2020.  The young people are looking forward to when they can return to their 
weekly meetings at the museum, when this is safe to do so. 
 
 
6 Other Museum Developments 
 
6.1 Volunteers 
The small team of volunteers continued to meet on a weekly basis in the 
Museum up until March, when the museum closed due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
6.2 Textile groups 
Similarly, the Museum’s textile groups stopped attending the Museum in 
March.  Museum staff have been phoning the volunteers once a fortnight to 
check all is well and to stay connected. 
 
6.3 Friends of the Museum 
The Friends of the Museum continue to support the Museum through 
fundraising and promoting the Museum in the town. Because of the 
cancellation of the talks programme and temporary closure of the museum, 
the Friends committee members have agreed to extend membership into 

16

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/events/admin/?acontext=%7B%22action_history%22%3A%22%5b%7B%5C%22surface%5C%22%3A%5C%22page%5C%22%2C%5C%22mechanism%5C%22%3A%5C%22page_admin_bar%5C%22%2C%5C%22extra_data%5C%22%3A%7B%5C%22page_id%5C%22%3A202131569940018%7D%7D%5d%22%2C%22has_source%22%3Atrue%7D


2021. 
 
6.4 Teaching Museum Trainee Scheme 
The Ancient House has continued to host a paid traineeship, provided through 
the NMS Teaching Museum programme.  The traineeship is funded through 
the NMS Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation 2018-2022 
Business Plan. The current trainee is Sami Yusuf who has been contributing 
to the museum’s digital offer through accessing the museum database, 
creating short films, writing press releases, providing technical support for 
webinars and researching and creating content about the museum collections.  
 
6.5 David Osborne’s postcard collection acquisition 
The Ancient House has now purchased the David Osborne postcard collection 
of 1,155 cards of Thetford views from the 1870s to the present day following 
successful fundraising.   The Museum is very appreciative of funding support 
from Arts Council England, the V&A Purchase Grant Fund, Breckland District 
Council, the Lady Hind Trust, the Friends of Thetford Museum and Thetford 
Town Council. 
The albums of cards were deposited in the Museum for safe keeping in 
October. A display of a selection of cards is planned in 2021. 
 

  
Postcard of children at Norwich Road School c 1905 from the recently  
acquired David Osborne postcard collection 
 
 
7 Participation Numbers   
 
7.1 Up to date participation numbers will be circulated at the meeting. 

 
 

8 Resource implications 
 
(a) Finance   None 
(b) Property   None 
(c) Staff    None 
(d) Information Technology None 
 

17



 
9 Recommendations: 
 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report 
 
Originator of report: 
Oliver Bone 
Curator 
Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life 
Tel: 01842 752599 e-mail: oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk  
 
 

18

mailto:oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
25 January 2021  Item No. 

 
GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT 

 
Report by the Operations Manager – West 

 
    

1. Temporary Closure of Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse Museum 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic 

 
 

1.1 All Norfolk Museums Service (NMS) museums, including Gressenhall 
Farm and Workhouse Museum, closed to visitors on 19 March 2020 as 
a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of NMS non 
frontline staff have been working remotely from home since this time. 
Following a phased COVID-secure reopening of the NMS museum 
sites at Norwich Castle, Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse and Time & 
Tide during July and August and at Lynn Museum during October, all 
NMS sites closed again from 5 November as part of the second 
national lockdown. Following the announcement that Norfolk would be 
in Tier 2, three NMS sites reopened to the public on Thursday 3 
December. These sites were Norwich Castle, Time & Tide Museum 
and Lynn Museum. The seasonal site at Gressenhall remains closed 
until the start of the 2021 season. Following the announcement that 
Norfolk would be in Tier 4 from Boxing Day, all NMS sites closed again 
with effect from 24 December. Museums are legally required to close to 
visitors in both Tier 3 and Tier 4. 
  

1.2 Many museum activities and services, including general visits and 
school visits, have been severely impacted due to COVID-19. NMS 
staff have been involved in supporting key work relating to the Norfolk 
County Council’s (NCC) COVID-19 response, including helping to 
coordinate volunteer activities, managing the distribution of food and 
medicine to residents who needed this support, and making telephone 
calls to identified vulnerable residents.  
 

This report provides information on activities at Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse from October 2020 to December 2020. 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Andrew Smith on 01362 869254 and we will 
do our best to help 

19

Agenda Item 7



1.3 Throughout the period of the pandemic, NMS staff have developed a 
broad range of digital resources to support audiences, including 
resources for children and families. Digital engagement included a 
significant expansion of social media activity. Resources continue to be 
made available for those in digital poverty or without ready access to 
digital content. 
  

1.4 The enormous range of NMS activity during lockdown is being captured 
in the weekly Museums Mardle staff e-newsletter. Members of the 
committee can be added to this distribution list on request.  

 
1.5 The reopening of museum sites during 2020 followed the 

implementation of strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were 
reviewed and signed-off by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing 
team. Reopening was also in accordance with sector-specific guidance 
issued by the National Museums Directors Council. All visits were pre-
booked using timed tickets available from the Art Tickets website. To 
accommodate social distancing, site visitor capacity was significantly 
reduced. 
 

1.6 Staff training took place at Gressenhall Farm and workhouse in 
advance of reopening. Staff were provided with any identified PPE and 
protective screens have been installed at key points. Enhanced staffing 
levels ensured that visitors were provided with the necessary support 
and advice.  
 

1.7 To reduce ‘touchpoints’ in the museum some of the interactive 
elements of the displays have been covered over. However, to help 
family groups enjoy the museum displays new ‘takeaway’ activity trails 
and packs were introduced for younger visitors and their families to use 
around the Gressenhall site. 
 

1.8 All museum visits had to be pre-booked using timed tickets available 
from the Art Tickets website. To accommodate social distancing, site 
visitor capacity has been significantly reduced. For Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse Museum up to 15 visitors were able to book per 15 
minute period.  
 

1.9 Whilst visitors were requested to pre-book their visit via Art Tickets to 
ensure that visitor numbers were carefully managed, if there was 
capacity within the museum, ‘walk-in’ non-booked visits were facilitated 
where possible. 
 

2. Events and Activities  
 
2.1 Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse has unfortunately had to cancel its 

events programme at the museum since March 2020 due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. During this period there has been a focus on 
digital delivery as an alternative means of engaging with both existing 
and new audiences.  

20



2.2 The school holiday programme for October half term 2020 was able to 
go ahead, in an amended COVID-19 secure self-led format. The half 
term week theme was Awesome Autumn and the programme ran from 
Thursday 22 October to Sunday 1 November. This theme allowed 
visitors to explore nature more closely through autumn crafts, 
fascinating quiz trails, adventurous woodland games and a pumpkin 
obstacle course. An average of 140 people per day enjoyed the events 
on offer. 
 

2.3 The 2020 events programme at Gressenhall was planned to offer a 
broad range of activities based around four operational models but all 
events from late March onwards were unable to go ahead. For this 
reporting period, the following days and activities were cancelled: 
• Special Event days – major events which require full event staffing 

and set up: Apple Day  
• Days with a Difference – smaller themed events: not scheduled 

during this period 
• Norfolk School Holiday activities: not scheduled during this period 
• Ticketed Events – pre-booked and pre-paid events: Victorian Family 

Christmas 
 

2.4 Since the reopening of the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse on 
Monday 20 July, a reintroduction of small-scale event activities has 
been instigated. For the October to December period, the following 
activity was run daily when the site was open:  
• A ‘pencil free’ children’s activity available to all visitors.   

 
2.5 Digital resources have been created by the Events, Learning and 

Curatorial teams which have been uploaded and are available to 
visitors on the Gressenhall website. Resources include children’s craft 
activities, an online murder mystery along with creativity and wellbeing 
activities inspired by Lorina Bulwer. These resources are updated on a 
regular basis.  

 
2.6 Gressenhall presented the first virtual event day via the museum’s 

social media channels on Sunday 11 October. Apple Day Online 
delivered creative craft ideas, delicious apple recipes and an apple 
variety quiz with posts across the day for online audiences to enjoy. 
The second virtual Gressenhall event Online Festive Activities was 
hosted on Monday 21 and Tuesday 22 December. Digital visitors were 
greeted with Christmas themed storytelling, craft activities, cooking 
sessions and a special virtual visit from Father Christmas. 
                

2.7 The costs of delivering and marketing the Gressenhall event 
programme continues to be subsidised with funding from Arts Council 
England (ACE) as part of the 2018-22 Norfolk Museums Service ACE 
business plan as a National Portfolio Organisation.   

 
2.8 The Gressenhall events programme is promoted via a specific piece of 

print, as well as an increased programme of digital marketing including 

21



Facebook and Google adverts and the museum’s own social media 
presence. All changes to the Gressenhall events programme have 
been communicated via social media, Art Tickets and the Gressenhall 
website.  
 

3. Other Museum Developments 
 
3.1 The 2020 season temporary exhibition Full Steam Ahead opened on 17 

February 2020 for half term, just before the national lockdown. This 
exhibition is designed to celebrate all things steam, including the 
Farmers Foundry Company engine which is currently undergoing 
restoration before being relocated and displayed at Gressenhall. The 
exhibition was re-designed to include COVID-19 safety measures 
before the museum re-opened in the summer. This meant that all touch 
points and interactives were removed or covered up and a one-way 
system established through the space. The exhibition is due to be de-
installed before Gressenhall re-opens in mid-March, although this is 
subject to COVID-19 restrictions at that point. 
  

3.2 The temporary exhibition for 2021, More in Commons, is well-
developed. For this exhibition, staff are working in partnership with 
Norfolk Wildlife Trust, who are celebrating their 95th birthday. The 
exhibition is a celebration of the wildlife, history and community of 
Norfolk’s common land. Working together with natural history 
colleagues, community groups (including Gypsy and Romany 
Travellers) and volunteers staff are developing a COVID-19 secure but 
still engaging exhibition. It starts with a community designed 3D 
sculpture, created by volunteers working remotely, which directs people 
to the main exhibition in the Collections Gallery. The main exhibition 
display explores the wildlife, history and community groups that use 
common land and examines what the future holds for Norfolk’s green, 
unenclosed spaces. The exhibition will also feature in the wider site 
including a Robert Kett scarecrow for Cherry Tree Cottage. Work is on 
target for the exhibition to open in the spring. 
 

3.3 Staff have created several online versions of previous temporary 
exhibitions and tours during the lockdown period. These simple pdf files 
allow online visitors to explore the objects and images at their own 
pace and to review areas of interest. The online tours available include: 

• Full Steam Ahead 
• Once Upon a Time 
• LGBTQ+ Stories 
• Queer Nature Tour 
• Behind the Scenes Collections Store Tour 

 
Staff are currently working on uploading this digital content to the 
Google Arts and Culture platform which will make this material, and 
other previous temporary exhibitions, accessible to a much wider 
audience online. 
 

22



3.4 Gressenhall has continued to lead on the More Than Oliver Twist 
project. This Subject Specialist Network (SSN) project is funded by Arts 
Council England. The establishment of a new Workhouse Network 
SSN was one of the objectives of the recent Voices from the 
Workhouse project at Gressenhall supported by the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund. For this project Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse 
Museum is working with five other workhouse museums and 
Nottingham Trent University to engage museum workforces with 
pauper histories. NMS has been granted a further extension to the 
project, which will be complete by 31st March 2021. Mel Rye and 
Morgan Tipping were originally appointed to create a physical 
temporary exhibition together with the six regional partners. Since 
lockdown this was changed to a completely digital offer, hosted on the 
Google Arts and Culture platform: 
The Workhouse Network — Google Arts & Culture 

 
The exhibition features artwork telling the visual story of six of the 
inmates whose lives were researched during the project. These are 
accompanied by audio soundtracks that tell their lives in the form of a 
radio show, reflect on their contemporary resonance and give the 
researcher’s a chance to explain their experience of working on the 
project. A five-year plan has been written which will ensure the network 
continues to grow and includes a range of opportunities to apply for 
future funding for further projects. Lockdown gave staff the opportunity 
to recruit further family history research volunteers and they have 
completed research on all the inmates recorded in the 1881 and 1871 
censuses. These are being added to the free, publicly available eHive 
website, providing a fantastic resource for academics and local and 
family historians: 
More Than Oliver Twist on eHive  
 

3.5 The Farmers Foundry Company steam engine restoration project, also 
funded through Arts Council England, has another revised and 
approved timetable because of the delays brought about by lockdown. 
Good progress has been made on the engine in the steam engineers’ 
yard and the engine is now ready to be returned to site, once 
restrictions are lifted. The steam engine will be returned to Gressenhall, 
made fully operational again and will provide the platform to train a new 
diverse volunteer team.  
 

3.6 A Collecting COVID-19 project was started in response to the national 
lockdown and is using a phased approach to collect stories and objects 
relating to the pandemic across diverse rural Norfolk. The initial phase 
of collecting was during the first lockdown and was followed up by a 
living with the pandemic phase. Staff have worked hard to identify 
stories from a range of people and organisations across rural Norfolk to 
reflect the diverse experiences of people within the county during this 
unusual time. 
 

23

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fartsandculture.google.com%2Fpartner%2Fthe-workhouse-network&data=04%7C01%7Candrew.smith.mus%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C3bb956cb76f64d9334c208d8b26c77db%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637455526225802623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=fWHJ4Z%2Bx0sQzh1gTkXvF06whewviBuiH7OeUzOK24T0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fehive.com%2Fcommunities%2F1167%2Fmore-than-oliver-twist&data=04%7C01%7Candrew.smith.mus%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C3bb956cb76f64d9334c208d8b26c77db%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637455526225802623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Jp3QYIC475GrBMA4LEAYVAuzJQvtLDG0ngcFrYnqQ1g%3D&reserved=0


3.7 The new Adventure Playground at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, 
funded through the NCC capital programme 2019-20, opened on 
Saturday 25 October 2020, in time for the October half term week.    
The opening of the new playground followed the implementation of 
strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were reviewed and signed-off 
by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing team. All visits were pre-
booked using timed tickets available from the playground entrance 
once families had arrived at Gressenhall using their pre-booked 
museum entry tickets. To maintain social distancing, the capacity of the 
playground was significantly reduced, with 25 children able to use the 
play equipment during a 40 minute play session. Five play sessions are 
available per day with a 30 minute cleaning regime between each one. 
The new look adventure playground will play a key role in attracting 
families, repeat visitors and NMS Museums Pass holders to the site 
once we are able to re-open Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse. The 
new adventure playground complements the wider site’s existing 
interpretation including such elements as the wildlife, woodland, heavy 
horses and farm animals and blends into the surrounding landscape 
very well. 
 

3.8 The Gressenhall farm staff have again amended their working pattern 
to ensure key priorities are covered during the lockdown. The daily 
feeding and care of the livestock is crucial and Richard Dalton and 
Mike Crisp, the farm officers, provide cover every day including 
weekends. Other Gressenhall team members will help to support this 
farm priority when required. One element of the farm operation which 
has been able to continue during lockdown is the training of the 
youngest Suffolk Punch horse, Caspar. Reports of his progress so far 
are encouraging and, if this continues, he will join the rest of the team 
and share their work from the 2022 season onwards. 
 

3.9 Maintaining and growing a strong social media presence is of even 
greater importance during lockdown periods and beyond. This remains 
a key priority for Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse and a digital report 
for the period will be circulated at the meeting. 

 
To connect with Gressenhall, please visit: 
https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW  
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW  
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/ 
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en    
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/  
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse  
 

3.10 The private Facebook group for Gressenhall staff and volunteers 
remains a valuable communication tool. It provides a link to the 
museum for staff and volunteers who are not currently able to attend or 
work on site. Regular updates are provided by staff completing security 
checks and other essential work on site during the lockdown period. 
This included photographs of the farm animals being fed and the 

24

https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse


buildings, gardens and wildlife. Content is also uploaded by remote 
volunteers working on various projects and the Facebook group has 
become a safe space for developing the Gressenhall digital community. 
 

3.11 Gressenhall continues to investigate a range of commercial activities 
as a means of generating income in the future, including room and 
venue hire where virus restrictions and lockdown periods allow.  

 
4. Friends and Volunteers 

 
4.1 The Friends of Gressenhall remain supportive but it has not been 

possible to hold the bi-monthly Committee Meetings at the museum 
since March 2020. The Friends continue to operate the Gressenhall 
second-hand bookshop, but as with all other areas of the site, this has 
been impacted by the COVID-19 lockdown and has been closed since 
the middle of March. Therefore, the Friends have been unable to 
generate any new income from the bookshop this financial year  
 

4.2 The Gressenhall Curator, Dr Megan Dennis, continues to co-ordinate, 
manage and develop the volunteer teams at Gressenhall.  This group 
receives email updates on Mondays, Wednesdays and Friday to 
provide a regular link to Gressenhall and other volunteers. The emails 
are appreciated by many of our volunteers, particularly those living 
alone, or who are shielding. A range of remote volunteering 
opportunities have been developed which has seen our volunteer team 
increase to over 150 volunteers. We are recruiting people from across 
the UK and increasing the diversity of our volunteer group. These 
volunteers have worked on family history research, cataloguing 
workhouse archives and improving collection records. A new project 
sees remote volunteers working together to create a 3D sculpture for 
our 2021 temporary exhibition More in Commons. A weekly Virtual 
Gressenhall Tea Break on Zoom also continues during this lockdown 
with regular attendees. 
 

5. Learning & Outreach 
 
5.1 The planned COVID-secure return of school visits was delayed due to 

the second lockdown in November. This was frustrating for staff and 
schools as there were some 800 children from schools booked in to 
visit Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse for a range of events. However, 
the number of bookings is clear evidence that there remains a strong 
demand amongst schools for our services and a confidence in our 
ability to deliver a safe, educational experience. Following the end of 
the second lockdown, Gressenhall was one of three museums in NMS 
(along with Lynn Museum and Stories of Lynn), who were able to 
welcome schools for the first time since March 2020. This followed a 
significant amount of COVID-19 planning work in liaison with the NCC 
Health, Safety & Wellbeing team. Gressenhall was visited by five 
schools in total, each visit being from a single class group bubble. 
Preparations were thorough, with safe systems of work in place and 

25



learning staff and freelancers visiting the museum in advance to see 
how the day would operate in practice. The school visits went well. 
Hand sanitiser stations were used in each space that children 
undertook their activities and staff completed ad hoc cleaning when 
necessary during sessions. Any objects that were touched were 
cleaned or quarantined after use and a two-metre distancing was 
successfully maintained throughout. Learning team staff were 
supported by Front of House staff who assisted with cleaning lunch 
spaces. The care taken in developing, testing and communicating our 
systems of work ensured that museum staff, teachers and children 
could relax, enjoy the day and learn something new. Although the most 
recent lockdown means that schools will not be visiting again until after 
February half term at the earliest, our recent experience of face-to-face 
delivery will stand us in good stead when visits can recommence. 
 

5.2 Learning staff have completed and piloted two sets of films to support 
classroom learning. Schools watch the films, think of questions they 
wish to ask, and talk to a costumed character or member of staff via 
livestream. The Neolithic Britain films follow a light-hearted story to 
engage Year 3 students (7 and 8 year olds). The story revolves around 
a Mrs Smith who does not think that the Neolithic period was very 
important and is transported back in time to undertake a series of 
object-based challenges  We have also developed a through the 
keyhole series of films to support studies of Victorian Britain. Each film 
shows a costumed character going about their duties in a particular 
museum space: schoolroom, washhouse, farmhouse kitchen and 
workhouse. They encourage children to ask questions about a range of 
subjects from the technologies used to the realities of life in Victorian 
Norfolk. Responses to both series of films have been very positive. 
 

5.3 The learning team are intending to build upon their experience of digital 
engagement in the future. Museum learning teams have been looking 
for ways to deepen their engagement with schools for many years and 
we hope that livestreaming will become part of our offer to complement 
face to face visits. This enhanced digital offer allows staff to follow-up 
museum visits with a digital classroom in order to answer any 
questions and consolidate learning.   

 
5.4 Gressenhall continues to be registered with NCC as a Care Farm. 

Work-based placements to adults with learning difficulties have been 
suspended during the pandemic. Placements will be reviewed later in 
the year. 
 

6. Kick the Dust project update 
 

6.1 The Kick the Dust: Norfolk project, funded through the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund, has continued to engage with young people throughout 
the COVID-19 lockdown period. The project team have adapted their 
activities to support existing groups across Norfolk, in particular YMCA 
groups, using digital means. 

26



6.2 From the start of the first national lockdown in March to the 21 
December 2020 there were a total of 1,860 interventions, involving 704 
individual young people taking part in 880 hours of quality digital 
activity. 19 Kick the Dust groups have been taking part in 371 different 
digital activities across the county, with a further 11 YMCA groups 
involved in 109 heritage related activities plus an additional number 
engaging in activities left at their residences to complete independently 
during lockdown.  
 

6.3 Total engagement numbers for the project from October 2018 to 21 
December 2020 are 7,932 interventions, involving 2,419 individual 
young people, taking part in 4,015 hours of quality activity.  Of these 
interventions, 186 volunteering opportunities have been provided to 93 
individual young people.  
 

6.4 Of this activity 28% has been categorised at ‘Player’ level, 46% at 
‘Shaper’ level and 20% at ‘Leader’ level.  Of these activities, 53% 
involve young people in leading and designing projects as well as 
acting as mentors to staff and other young people. Three young people 
currently sit on the Project Steering Group.  
 

6.5 Breakdown of participants: 
This has changed considerably since lockdown due to the high number 
of YMCA clients project staff have been engaging with through the 
enhanced digital offer.  
7% aged 11-13 years 
12% aged 14-16 years 
32% aged 17-19 years  
24% aged 20-22 years  
25% aged 23-25 years  
 

6.6 Engagement by target audiences (some young people fall into more 
than one category): 
YMCA clients – 41% 
Secondary schools – 30% 
FE/HE – 24% 
Young people with mental health issues – 15% 
Outside of mainstream education – 8% 
Young Offenders at those at risk of offending – 5% 
Looked after children and adopted living at home - 7% 
SEND – 6% 
NEET – 4% 
Care Leavers – 2% 
New arrivals and refugees – 2% 
Pregnant young mums and teenage parents – 1% 
Young Carers – 2% 

 
6.7 As part of the feedback, young people are asked how aware they are of 

the range of job roles available within NMS and the heritage sector and 
how they perceived museums in terms of being spaces for young 

27



people. 72% of young people stated they had little or no knowledge of 
job roles in NMS or the heritage sector before taking part and 92% felt 
that museums were a space they could use and would use in the 
future.  
 

6.8 Evaluation responses from this Kick the Dust project can be compared 
with those from the other eleven Kick the Dust projects currently 
running across the UK. This programme- wide evaluation has been 
commissioned by the National Lottery Heritage Fund from the 
evaluation specialists Renaisi.  
 

6.9 Summary of evaluation responses: 
Following their engagement with our project: 
93% of young people said they had learnt new and interesting things 
about heritage (Renaisi survey 90%);  
85% of young people felt that heritage reflected them (Renaisi 70%); 
90% felt heritage would engage other young people (Renaisi 89%);  
82% of young people said they were more likely to become a volunteer 
as a result of their involvement in KTD and this option was the most 
popular with work experience for all those who took part. (Renaisi 
61%); 
100% of young people stated they felt welcomed and respected by staff 
and 100% felt a sense of achievement; 
84% of young people stated they now had a better understanding of 
heritage having taken part in the programme with 16% stating they 
weren’t sure and needed more engagement. (Renaisi 78%); 
70% of young people felt they had the opportunity to influence 
decisions. (Renaisi 66%); 
88% of young people felt that there were jobs for young people like 
themselves to work in heritage. (Renaisi 72%); 
65% of young people felt that heritage had helped them understand 
more about their own lives – it had given them context;   
81% said they had found heritage more relevant than they had before 
embarking on their Kick the Dust journey (Renaisi 77%);  
96% of young people felt that the programme was easy and affordable 
to get involved in but had concerns that they may not be able to do this 
in the future if there was a significant cost to them. (Renaisi 92%). 
 

6.10 Learning officers, Rachel Duffield and Rebecca Hale, have been 
engaging with remote work experience groups of young people from a 
wide range of backgrounds. The programme has two parts. In the first 
part, young people meet museum staff (front of house, curatorial, 
learning etc), find out about their roles and undertake a related activity. 
In the second part (which our first group is about to start), young people 
work together on their own museum-related project. 
 

7. Visitor numbers   
 

7.1 Visitor figures for the period will be circulated at the meeting. 
 

28



8.   Resource implications  
 
(a) Finance 
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse receives funding to support core 
operations and activities from Norfolk County Council.  A number of 
activities are financed as part of funding to Norfolk Museums Service from 
Arts Council England as a National Portfolio Organisation under the terms 
of the current 2018-22 Business Plan.  Project activities are funded from a 
range of external sources including the National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(formerly the Heritage Lottery Fund).  The source of these funds are 
detailed within the report.  The above report includes no additional or 
unfunded financial implications.   
 
(b) Property 
Unless specified, the above activities relate to the Gressenhall Farm and 
Workhouse and Norfolk Collections Centre site.  The above report includes 
no additional implications relating to property. 
 
(c) Staff  
The team at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported by a wider 
team of colleagues within Norfolk Museums Service.  Some current posts 
are funded by external project funding. The above report includes no 
additional implications relating to staffing and personnel resources. 

 
(d) Information Technology 
Digital operations at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported by 
Norfolk County Council’s IMT department.  Social media is delivered by 
the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse team.  The above report includes 
no additional implications relating to Information Technology. 

 
9.  Recommendations: 

 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report  

 
Originator of report: 
Andrew Smith 
Operations Manager – East & West, Norfolk Museums Service 
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, Gressenhall, Dereham, Norfolk NR20 4DR 
Tel: 01362 869254 e-mail: andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk  

29

mailto:andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Ancient House Museum Report
	ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT

	7 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report
	GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT


